UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ

WILLIAM DE ALMEIDA

AVALIAÇÃO TOXICOLÓGICA DE ALQUILFENÓIS NA LINHAGEM CELULAR PÍSCEA RTG-2: UMA ABORDAGEM *IN VITRO* POR MEIO DE MÚLTIPLOS BIOMARCADORES

CURITIBA

2021

# WILLIAM DE ALMEIDA

# AVALIAÇÃO TOXICOLÓGICA DE ALQUILFENÓIS NA LINHAGEM CELULAR PÍSCEA RTG-2: UMA ABORDAGEM *IN VITRO* POR MEIO DE MÚLTIPLOS BIOMARCADORES

Dissertação apresentada ao curso de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia e Conservação, Setor de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal do Paraná, como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Mestre em Ecologia e Conservação.

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Marta Margarete Cestari

Coorientadora: Profa. Dra. Taynah Vicari

CURITIBA 2021

### DADOS INTERNACIONAIS DE CATALOGAÇÃO NA PUBLICAÇÃO (CIP) UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ SISTEMA DE BIBLIOTECAS – BIBLIOTECA DE CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS

Almeida, William de

Avaliação toxicológica de alquifenóis na linhagem celular píscea RTG-2 : uma abordagem i*n vitro* por meio de múltiplos biomarcadores / William de Almeida. – Curitiba, 2022. 1 recurso on-line : PDF.

Dissertação (Mestrado) – Universidade Federal do Paraná, Setor de Ciências Biológicas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia e Conservação.

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Marta Margarete Cestari. Coorientadora: Profa. Dra. Taynah Vicari.

1. Fenóis. 2. Biomarcadores. 3. Estresse oxidativo. 4. Genotoxicidade. I. Cestari, Marta Margarete, 1959- . II. Vicari, Taynah. III. Universidade Federal do Paraná. Setor de Ciências Biológicas. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia e Conservação. IV. Título.



MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO SETOR DE CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ PRÔ-REITORIA DE PESQUISA E PÔS-GRADUAÇÃO PROGRAMA DE PÔS-GRADUAÇÃO ECOLOGIA E CONSERVAÇÃO - 40001016048P6

ATA Nº232

#### ATA DE SESSÃO PÚBLICA DE DEFESA DE MESTRADO PARA A OBTENÇÃO DO GRAU DE MESTRE EM ECOLOGIA E CONSERVAÇÃO

No dia vinte e dois de dezembro de dois mil e vinte e um às 14 horas, na sala https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3aHh. 0 Azx Pnq 8 o j f w w h m DAgBwBEOZZa04vL7wHAUbgms1%40thread.tacv2/1639768437303?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22c37b37a3-e9e2-42f9-bc67-4b9b738e1dfD%22%2c%22Old%22%3, Modalidade Videoconferência, foram Instaladas as atividades pertinentes ao rito de defesa de dissertação do mestrando WILLIAM DE ALMEIDA, Intituiada: AVALIAÇÃO TOXICOLÓGICA DE ALQUILFENÓIS NA LINHAGEM CELULAR PISCEA RTG-2: UMA ABORDAGEM IN VITRO POR MEIO DE MÚLTIPLOS BIOMARCADORES, sob orientação da Profa. Dra. MARTA MARGARETE CESTARI. A Banca Examinadora, designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-Graduação ECOLOGIA E CONSERVAÇÃO da Universidade Federal do Paraná, foi constituída pelos seguintes Membros: MARTA MARGARETE CESTARI (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANĂ), IZONETE CRISTINA GUILOSKI (FACULDADES PEQUENO PRÍNCIPE), HELENA CRISTINA SILVA DE ASSIS (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ). A presidência iniciou os ritos definidos pelo Colegiado do Programa e, após exarados os pareceres dos membros do comitê examinador e da respectiva contra argumentação, ocorreu a leitura do parecer final da banca examinadora, que decidiu pela APROVAÇÃO. Este resultado deverá ser homologado pelo Colegiado do programa, mediante o atendimento de todas as indicações e correções solicitadas pela banca dentro dos prazos regimentais definidos pelo programa. A outorga de título de mestre está condicionada ao atendimento de todos os requisitos e prazos determinados no regimento do Programa de Pós-Graduação. Nada mais havendo a tratar a presidência deu por encerrada a sessão, da quai eu, MARTA MARGARETE CESTARI, lavrel a presente ata, que val assinada por mim e pelos demais membros da Comissão Examinadora.

CURITIBA, 22 de Dezembro de 2021.

Assinatura Eletrônica 25/12/2021 20:08:02.0 MARTA MARGARETE CESTARI Presidente da Banca Examinadora

Assinatura Eletrônica

23/12/2021 09:12:14.0 IZONETE CRISTINA GUILOSKI Availador Externo (FACULDADES PEQUENO PRÍNCIPE)

#### Assinatura Eletrônica

24/12/2021 15:29:50.0 HELENA CRISTINA SILVA DE ASSIS Availador interno (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ)

Centro Politécnico - Setor de Ciéncias Biológicas - CURITIBA - Paraná - Brasil CEP 81531980 - Tel: (41) 3361-1595 - E-mail: ecologia@utpr.br Documento assinado eletronicamente de acordo com o disposto na legislação federal Decreto 8539 de 08 de outubro de 2015. Gerado e autenticado pelo SIGA-UFPR, com a seguinte identificação única: 139524 Para autenticar este documento/assinatura, acesse https://www.prpg.utpr.br/siga/visitante/autenticacaoassinaturas.jsp e insira o codigo 139524



MINISTÊRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO SETOR DE CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ PRÔ-REITORIA DE PESQUISA E PÔS-GRADUAÇÃO PROGRAMA DE PÔS-GRADUAÇÃO ECOLOGIA E CONSERVAÇÃO - 40001016048P6

#### TERMO DE APROVAÇÃO

Os membros da Banca Examinadora designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-Graduação ECOLOGIA E CONSERVAÇÃO da Universidade Federal do Paraná foram convocados para realizar a arguição da Dissertação de Mestrado de WILLIAM DE ALMEIDA Intituiada: AVALIAÇÃO TOXICOLÓGICA DE ALQUILFENÓIS NA LINHAGEM CELULAR PÍSCEA RTG-2: UMA ABORDAGEM IN VITRO POR MEIO DE MÚLTIPLOS BIOMARCADORES, sob orientação da Profa. Dra. MARTA MARGARETE CESTARI, que após terem inquirido o aluno e realizada a avaliação do trabalho, são de parecer pela sua APROVAÇÃO no rito de defesa.

A outorga do títuio de mestre está sujeita à homologação pelo colegiado, ao atendimento de todas as indicações e correções solicitadas pela banca e ao pieno atendimento das demandas regimentais do Programa de Pós-Graduação.

CURITIBA, 22 de Dezembro de 2021.

Assinatura Eletrónica 25/12/2021 20:08:02.0 MARTA MARGARETE CESTARI Presidente da Banca Examinadora

Assinatura Eletrónica 23/12/2021 09:12:14.0 IZONETE CRISTINA GUILOSKI Availador Externo (FACULDADES PEQUENO PRÍNCIPE)

Assinatura Eletrónica

24/12/2021 15:29:50.0 HELENA CRISTINA SILVA DE ASSIS Availador Interno (UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PARANÁ)

Centro Politécnico - Setor de Ciências Biológicas - CURITIBA - Paraná - Brasil CEP 81531980 - Tel: (41) 3361-1595 - E-mail: ecologia@utpr.br Documento assinado eletronicamente de acordo com o disposto na legislação federal <u>Decreto 8539 de 08 de outubro de 2015</u>. Gerado e autenticado pelo SIGA-UEPR, com a seguinte identificação única: 139524 Para autenticar este documento/assinatura, acesse https://www.prpg.utpr.br/siga/visitante/autenticacaoassinaturas.jsp e insira o codigo 139524 Ao leitor,

Dedico.

### AGRADECIMENTOS

Agradeço à minha família pelo amor e por deixarem sempre abertas as portas da educação. Agradeço, especialmente, à minha mãe, por tudo.

Agradeço à Thais, minha companheira de vida, com quem dividi toda esta nova etapa de mudanças e rotina. Com toda a certeza - ao seu lado - tudo ficou mais especial.

À professora Marta Margarete Cestari pela orientação, mas, acima de tudo, por ter me recebido em seu laboratório e acreditado na minha dedicação por esta área da ciência tão nova para mim. Aprendi muito nestes pouco mais de dois anos e a sua confiança no meu desempenho foi fundamental para esta jornada.

À Taynah Vicari que me coorientou com exímio. Por todo o incentivo e à boa amizade na rotina de laboratório. Seu profissionalismo é inspirador e aprendi muito mais além do que dissertar protocolos e desenhar experimentos. O lado humano sempre será de maior valor.

Aos colegas (pós-graduandos e estagiários) do laboratório de Mutagênese Ambiental pelos aprendizados e conversas. Aos colegas do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia e Conservação que, mesmo em um período de pandemia e distanciamento social, pudemos ter trocas significativas nas aulas e simpósios.

As professoras e professores com quem tive o grande privilégio de aprender em aulas maravilhosas que mostraram não somente conteúdos importantes para meu desenvolvimento profissional, mas inspirações que levarei adiante.

Aos parceiros do Laboratório de Toxicologia Ambiental, especialmente ao Rafael que me presenteou com boas conversas e ensinou mais sobre os biomarcadores enzimáticos, além da parceria na Comissão Científica.

Aos funcionários da UFPR, principalmente às técnicas dos departamentos de genética e fisiologia que me auxiliaram em diversos momentos do desenvolvimento dos experimentos.

À CAPES e ao que há de melhor na política brasileira, pelo incentivo financeiro aos pesquisadores do país.

Por fim, à natureza, que me instiga em diferentes fenômenos e compreensões. Seus mistérios pulsam vivos aonde caminho.

"[...]

Ele dorme dentro da minha alma E às vezes acorda de noite E brinca com os meus sonhos. Vira uns de pernas pro ar, Põe uns em cima dos outros E bate as palmas sozinho Sorrindo para o meu sono". (Fernando Pessoa 'Alberto Caeiro', 1931)

### RESUMO

Os etoxilatos de alguilfenóis são surfactantes industriais que, uma vez liberados no meio ambiente, produzem produtos secundários de sua degradação, sendo o nonilfenol (NP) e o octilfenol (OP) os mais comuns desses. Estes compostos podem ser classificados como interferentes endócrinos, já que o potencial estrogênico é amplamente reconhecido, mas outros aspectos toxicológicos ainda estão em debate. O objetivo deste estudo foi avaliar a toxicidade do NP, OP e misturas de ambos através de biomarcadores celulares, bioquímicos e genéticos em células gonadais písceas RTG-2 expostas a concentrações nominais de 0,05; 0,5; 5; 50 e 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> de cada composto químico e suas misturas, nas respectivas concentrações. Após 24 h de exposição, as células foram coletadas para as análises de citotoxicidade (vermelho neutro - VN; cristal violeta - CV, ensaio de resazurina -RA e lactato-desidrogenase - LDH), sistema antioxidante (glutationa-s-transferase -GST; superóxido-dismutase - SOD; glutationa-peroxidase - GPx e malondialdeído -MDA) e genotoxicidade (ensaio cometa alcalino e oxidativo). Ambos os compostos e suas misturas foram citotóxicos a 50 e 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> em aspecto geral, mas o LDH apresentou citotoxicidade desde 0,05 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>. A GST e SOD apresentaram tendência de aumento em todos os grupos testados, enquanto a GPx diminuiu atividade a 5 µg .mL<sup>-1</sup> da mistura. O aumento do MDA em todos os grupos resultou em peroxidação lipídica. As espécies reativas de oxigênio causaram danos ao DNA em todos os grupos testados. NP e OP e as concentrações testadas são encontrados em sistemas de água doce e demonstraram ser capazes de induzir toxicidade celular em diversos parâmetros que podem prejudicar os tecidos gonadais, considerando as respostas obtidas com a linhagem celular RTG-2.

Palavras-chave: Nonilfenol. Octilfenol. Biomarcadores. Estresse Oxidativo. Genotoxicidade.

## ABSTRACT

Alkylphenols ethoxylates are industrial surfactants and the releasing in the environmental matrices produce degraded products of which nonylphenol (NP) and octylphenol (OP) were the most common. They can be classified as endocrine disruptors since the estrogenic potential is widely recognized but some others toxic aspects are in discuss. The aim of this study was to evaluate the toxicity of NP, OP and mixtures of both through cellular, biochemical and genetic biomarkers in gonadal piscean cell line RTG-2 exposed to nominal concentrations of 0.05; 0.5; 5; 50 and 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> of each chemical and its mixtures of respectively concentrations. After 24 h, the cells were collected for cytotoxic (neutral red - NR; crystal violet - CV, resazurin assay - RA and lactate-dehydrogenase - LDH), antioxidant system (glutathione-s-transferase – GST; superoxide-dismutase – SOD; glutathioneperoxidase - GPx and malondialdehyde - MDA) and genotoxic assays (alkaline comet assay and Fpg-modified alkaline comet assay). The chemicals and its mixtures were cytotoxic at 50 and 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> in general aspect but LDH showed cytotoxicity since 0.05 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>. The GST and SOD showed an increase trend in most tested groups while GPx decreased at 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> of mixture. The MDA increase in all groups resulting in lipid peroxidation. The reactive oxygen species caused DNA damage for all groups. The tested chemicals and concentrations have been found in the freshwater systems and are capable to induce cell toxicity in several parameters that could impair the gonadal tissues considering the RTG-2 responses.

Keywords: Nonylphenol. Octylphenol. Biomarkers. Oxidative Stress. Genotoxicity.

# LISTA DE GRÁFICOS

# LISTA DE TABELAS

# **SUMÁRIO**

1 INTRODUÇÃO	16
1.1 ALQUILFENÓIS	16
1.2 TOXICIDADE DOS ALQUILFENÓIS	17
1.3 USO DE LINHAGEM CELULAR NA ECOTOXICOLOGIA	18
1.4 CONSIDERAÇÕES SOBRE A PESQUISA	20
REFERÊNCIAS	22
HIGHLIGHTS	25
ABSTRACT	25
1. INTRODUCTION	26
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	28
2.1 CELL CULTURE AND EXPOSURE CONDITIONS	28
2.2 CYTOTOXICITY ASSAYS	29
2.3 BIOCHEMICAL ASSAYS	30
2.4 GENOTOXICITY ASSAYS	31
2.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	32
3. RESULTS	32
3.1 CYTOTOXIC BIOMARKERS	33
3.2 BIOCHEMICAL BIOMARKERS	33
3.3 GENOTOXIC BIOMARKERS	35
4. DISCUSSION	35
5. CONCLUSION	39
REFERENCES	40

### 1 INTRODUÇÃO

A presente dissertação foi redigida em formato de artigo a ser submetido à revista Chemosphere, com amplo escopo na área de ecotoxicologia, tendo um fator de impacto 7.086 e qualis A2 na área temática Biodiversidade. Nesta apresentação serão abordados tópicos fundamentais de contextualização ao tema da pesquisa como a introdução ao grupo de contaminantes estudados e os principais efeitos já evidenciados e em discussão sobre sua toxicidade. Também uma breve introdução à utilização de linhagens celulares como modelos de investigação de contaminantes ambientais e, por fim, um resumo de nosso trabalho com as conclusões obtidas a partir dele.

### 1.1 ALQUILFENÓIS

Alquilfenóis (AP) são surfactantes amplamente utilizados em atividades industriais sob sua forma precursora de etoxilatos de alquilfenóis (APEo) (AHEL; GIGER; SCHAFFNER, 1994). Os APEo possuem diversas aplicações que compreendem óleos solúveis e emulsificantes para produção de detergentes e agroquímicos aniônicos, lubrificantes, agentes antiestáticos, produtos de limpeza têxtil de alto desempenho, aditivos de óleos lubrificantes e agentes antioxidantes para a formulação de borrachas (ARAUJO; BAUERFELDT; CID, 2018; BHANDARI *et al.*, 2021; SERVOS, 1999; VAZQUEZ -DUHALT, 2005). A emissão de efluentes provenientes das indústrias tem sido identificada como uma das maiores fontes de APEo e seus subprodutos no ambiente aquático (AHEL; GIGER; SCHAFFNER, 1994; CHOKWE; OKONKWO; SIBALI, 2017).

A degradação dos APEo resulta em compostos como o nonilfenol (NP) e octilfenol (OP), os AP mais comumente encontrados em matrizes aquáticas (GRAY; METCALFE, 1999; SERVOS, 1999), também são os dois AP mais utilizados na síntese de APEo (FERGUSON; IDEN; BROWNAWELL, 2001). NP e OP são formados durante processo de biodegradação anaeróbica de seus respectivos APEo (ARAUJO; BAUERFELDT; CID, 2018; ASIFA; CHITRA, 2018), sendo estes compostos persistentes, bioacumuláveis e mais tóxicos do que seus precursores (AHEL; GIGER; SCHAFFNER, 1994; GIGER; BRUNNER; SCHAFFNER, 1984; KOH; LESTER; SCRIMSHAW, 2005; NOORIMOTLAGH *et al.*, 2017; OLANIYAN *et* 

*al.*, 2018; YING; WILLIAMS; KOOKANA, 2002; ZHU; ZUO, 2013). A concentração de NP e OP nos ambientes aquáticos podem variar de menos que 600 μg/L em água de superfície até 1350 μg/L em esgoto não tratado (MEDVEDEVA; ZAYTSEVA; KUZIKOVA, 2017; YING; WILLIAMS; KOOKANA, 2002).

Alguns AP são considerados substâncias perigosas prioritárias pela Diretiva Quadro D'Água da União Europeia, tais como NP e OP (ACIR; GUENTHER, 2018; BHANDARI et al., 2021) uma vez que, a poluição Ambiental causada pela emissão de APEo e seus produtos de degradação, possuem efeito estrogênico e tóxico sobre os seres-vivos (KUMARAN et al., 2011; OLANIYAN et al., 2018). NP é o metabólito mais estudado, até o momento (JARDAK; DROGUI; DAGHRIR, 2016), tendo sido descrito inúmeros efeitos adversos que resultam em doenças e ameaças à integridade dos organismos (BHANDARI et al., 2021). Devido a efeitos danosos sobre o meio-ambiente. A produção e o uso do NP e seus precursores têm sido descontinuada nos países da União Europeia, ainda com a regulamentação do guia de qualidade da água potável (USEPA) recomendando uma concentração máxima de 28 µg/L em ambientes de água doce (ARAUJO; BAUERFELDT; CID, 2018). Já OP é encontrado sob concentrações mais altas que a definida pelo padrão de qualidade ambiental instituído pela Comissão Europeia – que é de 0.01 µg/L - em alguns recursos d'água (OLANIYAN et al., 2018). Ainda assim, estes APs não são regulados em diversos países, por exemplo no Brasil, onde não há legislação específica contendo valores máximos permitidos de concentrações de AP em matrizes ambientais (ARAUJO; BAUERFELDT; CID, 2018).

# 1.2 TOXICIDADE DOS ALQUILFENÓIS

Acerca da toxicidade do NP e OP, o potencial estrogênico destas substâncias é amplamente reconhecido (BONEFELD-JØRGENSEN *et al.*, 2007; JOBLING; SUMPTER, 1993; LEE; LEE, 1996; SOTO *et al.*, 1991; WHITE *et al.*, 1994). Estes AP mimetizam o hormônio 17β-estradiol ligando-se ao receptor de estrogênio e deslocando o 17β-estradiol de uma maneira competitiva (SOTO *et al.*, 1991; WHITE *et al.*, 1994). Evidências sugerem que estes contaminantes também podem causar toxicidade nos sistemas nervoso e imune, desregular funções cognitivas, causar anemia e danos teciduais (ACIR; GUENTHER, 2018; KUMARAN *et al.*, 2011). Uma associação positiva tem sido observada entre exposição ao NP e diferentes tipos de cânceres como o ovariano, uterino, pituitário e testicular (BHANDARI *et al.*, 2021). NP pode induzir estresse oxidativo pela geração de espécies reativas de oxigênio (ERO), tais como peróxido de hidrogênio (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) e ânion superóxido (O<sub>2</sub>-) (NOORIMOTLAGH *et al.*, 2017).

Sobre os efeitos genotóxicos e mutagênicos, NP não demonstrou efeito adverso com os testes SOS e Ames (SERVOS, 1999), mas estudos recentes demonstram mutagenicidade do NP (BHANDARI *et al.*, 2021). Genotoxicidade do OP envolve alterações genéticas em células somáticas e germinativas, associando estas respostas com sérios efeitos negativos na saúde como câncer, doenças hereditárias e degenerativas e comprometimento da fertilidade (OLANIYAN *et al.*, 2018). De uma maneira geral, a respeito dos efeitos genotóxicos do NP e OP, há a necessidade de mais dados que reforcem evidências, sendo necessárias maiores investigações do potencial genotóxico destas substâncias (MERTENS *et al.*, 2016), salientando que danos ao DNA são efeitos de preocupação devido a possibilidade do desenvolvimento de cânceres, morte e envelhecimento celular se as lesões não forem reparadas (HOEIJMAKERS, 2009). Ainda neste contexto, a avaliação de genotoxicidade destes compostos em misturas não foi realizada, sendo de emergente necessidade a compreensão dos efeitos que podem ser ocasionados pela interação dos contaminantes.

Apesar das considerações sobre o impacto ambiental e a interação do NP e OP nesta problemática, o número de estudos que podem reforçar o entendimento dos efeitos destas substâncias são ainda limitados (BHANDARI *et al.*, 2021; OLANIYAN *et al.*, 2018), sendo necessário salientar maiores evidências e explanações sobre os mecanismos de toxicidade destes químicos em um contexto de saúde ambiental.

# 1.3 USO DE LINHAGEM CELULAR NA ECOTOXICOLOGIA

A avaliação de contaminantes ambientais em modelos biológicos *in vivo* é economicamente dispendiosa, além de exigir uma demanda de tempo que dificulta a priorização de substâncias para estudos subsequentes. Além disso, ao longo dos anos tem crescido a preocupação pública sobre o uso de vertebrados em experimentos científicos devido ao estresse e dor causados nestes animais. O uso de modelos *in vivo* para bioensaios ainda requer uma quantidade maior dos

compostos a serem testados e, posteriormente, descartados (SEGNER, 1998; TAJU *et al.*, 2017). Dentre os animais mais utilizados para avaliações ecotoxicológicas, peixes são o principal grupo, no entanto devido serem vertebrados, estes animais fazem parte do grupo de organismos sob pressão pública para substituição por alternativas à experimentação animal (PÄRT; CASTAÑO; BENGTSSON, 2010). Dentre os métodos alternativos para avaliação de contaminantes ambientais, o uso de culturas celulares tem se tornado um dos principais modelos *in vitro* empregados nesses estudos.

O uso das linhagens celulares facilitam uma priorização inicial para classificar substâncias químicas potencialmente perigosas para ambientes aquáticos, uma vez que são aplicáveis em abordagens mecanicistas de toxicidade *in vivo* (SCHIRMER, 2006), utilizáveis com múltiplos *endpoints* e biomarcadores, além de aplicadas em estudos que buscam desenvolver novos métodos de avaliação (BOLS *et al.*, 2005).

O uso de células de peixe em avaliações de contaminantes ambientais e efluentes torna-se cada vez mais popular e começa a ganhar ampla aceitação regulatória (PÄRT; CASTAÑO; BENGTSSON, 2010). Alguns estudos indicam que linhagens celulares písceas poderiam ser utilizadas como uma alternativa a organismos inteiros por meio de avaliações de citotoxicidade, genotoxicidade e estresse oxidativo (TAJU *et al.*, 2017), sendo assim, o uso de linhagens celulares promovem a redução de experimentos *in vivo* em ecotoxicologia (BOLS *et al.*, 2005) sem deixar de oportunizar o uso de múltiplos biomarcadores para avaliar efeitos da poluição nestes organismos (CASTAÑO *et al.*, 2003). Além disso, o uso de cultura de células, em estudos de citotoxicidade por exemplo, constitui uma ferramenta útil para avaliar efeito da mistura de substâncias, o que seria mais dispendioso em estudos *in vivo* (SEGNER; BRAUNBECK, 2003).

Dentre as linhagens celulares empregadas em estudos ecotoxicológicos, a linhagem RTG-2 é um dos modelos mais utilizados. Esta linhagem é proveniente do tecido gonadal da espécie *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum, 1972) e têm sido útil para avaliação de contaminantes, além de reduzir custos e evitar o uso de vertebrados sem aumentar significantemente o nível de incerteza nos estudos (CASTANÕ *et al.*, 1996; RODRIGUES *et al.*, 2020; WOLF; QUIMBY, 1962).

Atualmente, os ecotoxicologistas têm o desafio de desenvolver novos bioensaios para suplementar e estender as abordagens já existentes para avaliação

de efeitos diversos, tendo como base princípios explicativos que auxiliem a desenvolver classificações de produtos químicos (SEGNER; BRAUNBECK, 2003). Nesta perspectiva, a utilização de cultura de células tende a se tornar um modelo de estudo cada vez mais versátil e notório, sendo padronizada para processos regulatórios em diferentes escalas políticas. Um exemplo é a Sociedade de Química e Toxicologia Ambiental (SETAC), na identificação de pesquisas prioritárias para uma qualidade ambiental sustentável na América Latina. Dentro da discussão sobre avaliação de risco, destacam o desenvolvimento de métodos alternativos para caracterização de riscos dos contaminantes ambientais, devido às necessidades éticas e de baixo custo, como ferramentas importantes para percepções iniciais de agentes químicos pouco estudados acerca da interação com sistemas biológicos. Para discutir política e gestão ambiental, a SETAC apresenta a implementação e uso de métodos alternativos como pesquisas importantes principalmente nos primeiros passos de avaliação de contaminantes químicos e amostras ambientais (FURLEY *et al.*, 2018).

## 1.4 CONSIDERAÇÕES SOBRE A PESQUISA

Considerando o conjunto de informações apresentadas até o momento e a problemática dos efeitos do NP e OP sobre o eixo reprodutivo, nosso estudo teve como objetivo avaliar os efeitos da exposição a estes xenobióticos, bem como à mistura de ambos, na linhagem gonadal de peixe RTG-2, utilizando biomarcadores celulares, bioquímicos e genéticos. A linhagem RTG-2 foi escolhida como modelo biológico devido seu amplo uso na avaliação de contaminantes ambientais, além de promover redução do custo de bioensaios *in vivo* e evitar o uso de vertebrados, sem que isso aumente significantemente o nível de incerteza na avaliação (CASTANÕ *et al.*, 1996; RODRIGUES *et al.*, 2020). Conforme esclarecido, os alquilfenóis utilizados nesta pesquisa são interferentes endócrinos, sendo assim é importante verificar os efeitos em células de gônada, justamente devido o tecido gonadal ser um tecido alvo de ação destes compostos, podendo resultar em efeitos representativos que infiram impactos negativos às espécies de peixes que habitam ambientes contaminados por alquilfenóis.

Para investigar se os contaminantes afetam a viabilidade das células, utilizamos os seguintes ensaios de citotoxicidade: (1) Vermelho Neutro; (2) Cristal

Violeta; (3) Ensaio da Resazurina e; (4) atividade da Lactato-desidrogenase. A fim de entender e gerar evidências sobre o estresse oxidativo que estes compostos podem mediar, avaliamos as enzimas: (1) glutationa S-transferase; (2) superóxido dismutase; (3) glutationa peroxidase e, ainda neste contexto, buscamos determinar se houve lipoperoxidação. Acerca dos possíveis efeitos genotóxicos, utilizamos o ensaio cometa para avaliar danos ao DNA por meio dos métodos alcalino e oxidativo, no intuito de entender se lesões ao DNA provenientes de espécies reativas de oxigênio poderiam ser detectados.

Estas diferentes análises constituem diferentes biomarcadores que fornecem respostas a níveis moleculares, permitindo uma avaliação precoce de efeitos negativos à saúde dos organismos expostos aos contaminantes. Em nossa pesquisa, os biomarcadores foram utilizados nas células submetidas às concentrações de 0,05; 0,5; 5; 50 e 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, tanto do NP, quanto do OP. As misturas de NP e OP foram de 0,05 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP + 0,05 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP (mistura 1), 0,5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP + 0,5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP (mistura 2), 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP + 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP (mistura 3), 50 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP + 50 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP (mistura 4) e 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP + 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP (mistura 5). Para os biomarcadores bioquímicos e genotóxicos foram utilizadas somente as três primeiras concentrações de cada contaminantes e mistura, a fim de investigar efeitos em concentrações não letais às células.

Identificamos que, em um padrão geral, NP e OP demonstraram respostas semelhantes de toxicidade, bem como as misturas de ambos os xenobióticos na linhagem celular RTG-2. As concentrações de 50 e 100 μg.mL<sup>-1</sup> provocaram uma maior diminuição da viabilidade celular, porém através do ensaio LDH, detectamos dano significativo à membrana plasmática desde a concentração de 0,05 μg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, sendo que isso pode estar relacionado ao estresse oxidativo, evidenciado pelo aumento da concentração de MDA em todos os grupos testados, denotando lipoperoxidação. Este desequilíbrio do sistema antioxidante e consequentemente comprometimento das funções celulares afetou a integridade do DNA, que apresentou genotoxicidade em baixas concentrações, quando analisada a versão oxidativa do método. Nossos resultados mostram impactos negativos em RTG-2 e alertam sobre os possíveis efeitos nas gônadas de peixes, demonstrando o potencial desta linhagem celular na avaliação de alquilfenóis em concentrações ambientais.

# REFERÊNCIAS

ACIR, I. H.; GUENTHER, K. Endocrine-disrupting metabolites of alkylphenol ethoxylates – A critical review of analytical methods, environmental occurrences, toxicity, and regulation. **Science of the Total Environment**, [*s. l.*], v. 635, p. 1530–1546, 2018.

AHEL, M.; GIGER, W.; SCHAFFNER, C. Behaviour of alkylphenol polyethoxylate surfactants in the aquatic environment-II. Occurrence and transformation in rivers. **Water Research**, [*s. l.*], v. 28, n. 5, p. 1143–1152, 1994.

ARAUJO, F. G. DE; BAUERFELDT, G. F.; CID, Y. P. Nonylphenol: Properties, legislation, toxicity and determination. **Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências**, [*s. l.*], v. 90, n. 2 suppl 1, p. 1903–1918, 2018.

ASIFA, K. P.; CHITRA, K. C. Evaluation of acute toxicity of octylphenol in the cichlid fish , Pseudetroplus maculatus (Bloch , 1795). **International Journal of Appl ied Research**, [*s. l.*], v. 4, n. 3, p. 197–203, 2018.

BHANDARI, G. *et al.* Occurrence, potential ecological risks, and degradation of endocrine disrupter, nonylphenol, from the aqueous environment. [*S. l.*]: Elsevier Ltd, 2021.

BOLS, N. C. *et al.* Chapter 2 Use of fish cell lines in the toxicology and ecotoxicology of fish. Piscine cell lines in environmental toxicology. **Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Fishes**, [*s. l.*], v. 6, n. C, p. 43–84, 2005.

BONEFELD-JØRGENSEN, E. C. *et al.* Endocrine-Disrupting Potential of Bisphenol A, Bisphenol A Dimethacrylate, 4- n -Nonylphenol, and 4- n -Octylphenol in Vitro : New Data and a Brief Review. **Environmental Health Perspectives**, [*s. l.*], v. 115, n. Suppl 1, p. 69–76, 2007.

CASTANÕ, A. *et al.* Correlations between the RTG-2 cytotoxicity test EC50 and in vivo LC50 rainbow trout bioassay. **Chemosphere**, [*s. l.*], v. 32, n. 11, p. 2141–2157, 1996.

CASTAÑO, A. *et al.* The use of fish cells in ecotoxicology: The report and recommendations of ECVAM workshop 47. **ATLA Alternatives to Laboratory Animals**, [*s. l.*], v. 31, n. 3, p. 317–351, 2003.

CHOKWE, T. B.; OKONKWO, J. O.; SIBALI, L. L. Distribution, exposure pathways, sources and toxicity of nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylates in the environment. **Water SA**, [*s. l.*], v. 43, n. 4, p. 529–542, 2017.

FERGUSON, P. L.; IDEN, C. R.; BROWNAWELL, B. J. Distribution and fate of neutral alkylphenol ethoxylate metabolites in a sewage-impacted urban estuary. **Environmental Science and Technology**, [*s. l.*], v. 35, n. 12, p. 2428–2435, 2001.

FURLEY, T. H. et al. Toward sustainable environmental quality: Identifying priority

research questions for Latin America. **Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management**, [*s. l.*], v. 14, n. 3, p. 344–357, 2018.

GIGER, W.; BRUNNER, P. H.; SCHAFFNER, C. 4-Nonylphenol in Sewage Sludge: Accumulation of Toxic Metabolites from Nonionic Surfactants Abstract. **Science**, [s. *I*.], v. 225, p. 623–625, 1984.

GRAY, M. A.; METCALFE, C. D. Toxicity of 4-tert-octylphenol to early life stages of Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). **Aquatic Toxicology**, [s. *l*.], v. 46, n. 2, p. 149–154, 1999.

HOEIJMAKERS, J. H. J. DNA Damage, Aging, and Cancer. **New England Journal** of Medicine, [s. *l*.], v. 361, n. 15, p. 1475–1485, 2009.

JARDAK, K.; DROGUI, P.; DAGHRIR, R. Surfactants in aquatic and terrestrial environment: occurrence, behavior, and treatment processes. **Environmental Science and Pollution Research**, [s. *l*.], v. 23, n. 4, p. 3195–3216, 2016.

JOBLING, S.; SUMPTER, J. P. Detergent components in sewage effluent are weakly oestrogenic to fish: An in vitro study using rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) hepatocytes. **Aquatic Toxicology**, [*s. l.*], v. 27, n. 3–4, p. 361–372, 1993.

KOH, Y. K. K.; LESTER, J. N.; SCRIMSHAW, M. D. Fate and behavior of alkylphenols and their polyethoxylates in an activated sludge plant. **Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology**, [*s. l.*], v. 75, n. 6, p. 1098–1106, 2005.

KUMARAN, S. S. *et al.* Toxicity studies of nonylphenol and octylphenol: Hormonal, hematological and biochemical effects in Clarias gariepinus. **Journal of Applied Toxicology**, [*s. l.*], v. 31, n. 8, p. 752–761, 2011.

LEE, P. C.; LEE, W. In vivo estrogenic action of nonylphenol in immature female rats. **Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology**, [*s. l.*], v. 57, n. 3, p. 341–348, 1996.

MEDVEDEVA, N.; ZAYTSEVA, T.; KUZIKOVA, I. Cellular responses and bioremoval of nonylphenol by the bloom-forming cyanobacterium Planktothrix agardhii 1113. **Journal of Marine Systems**, [*s. l.*], v. 171, p. 120–128, 2017.

MERTENS, B. *et al.* Investigation of the genotoxicity of substances migrating from polycarbonate replacement baby bottles to identify chemicals of high concern. **Food and Chemical Toxicology**, [*s. l.*], v. 89, p. 126–137, 2016.

NOORIMOTLAGH, Z. *et al.* An updated systematic review on the possible effect of nonylphenol on male fertility. **Environmental Science and Pollution Research**, [s. *l*.], v. 24, n. 4, p. 3298–3314, 2017.

OLANIYAN, L. W. B. *et al.* Environmental Water Pollution, Endocrine Interference and Ecotoxicity of 4-tert-Octylphenol: A Review. *In*: REVIEWS OFENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION AND TOXICOLOGY. [*S. I.: s. n.*], 2018.

PÄRT, P.; CASTAÑO, A.; BENGTSSON, B.-E. Testing in Aquatic Ecotoxicology: What Are the Scientific Conditions for the '3R' Concept? *In*: ERIKSSON, J.; GILEK, M.; RUDÉN, C. (org.). **Regulating Chemical Risks: European and Global Challenges**. 1. ed. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, p. 99–119. 2010.

RODRIGUES, E. T. *et al.* Cell-based assays as an alternative for the study of aquatic toxicity of pharmaceuticals. **Environmental Science and Pollution Research**, [s. *l*.], v. 27, n. 7, p. 7145–7155, 2020.

SCHIRMER, K. Proposal to improve vertebrate cell cultures to establish them as substitutes for the regulatory testing of chemicals and effluents using fish. **Toxicology**, [*s. l*.], v. 224, n. 3, p. 163–183, 2006.

SEGNER, H. Fish cell lines as a tool in aquatic toxicology. *In*: BRAUNBECK, T.; HINTON, D. E.; STREIT, B. (org.). **Fish Ecotoxicology**. Berlin: Springer Basel AG, v. 1, p. 1–38, 1998.

SEGNER, H.; BRAUNBECK, T. End points for in vitro toxicity testing with fish cells. *In*: MOTHERSILL, C.; AUSTIN, B. (org.). **In-vitro methods in aquatic toxicology**. Chichester: Springer Praxis, p. 77–141. 2003.

SERVOS, M. R. Review of the Aquatic Toxicity, Estrogenic Responses and Bioaccumulation of Alkylphenols and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylates. **Water Quality Research Journal**, [*s. l.*], v. 34, n. 1, p. 123–178, 1999.

SOTO, A. M. *et al.* p-Nonyl-phenol: An estrogenic xenobiotic released from "modified" polystyrene. **Environmental Health Perspectives**, [*s. l.*], v. 92, n. Cd, p. 167–173, 1991.

TAJU, G. *et al.* Application of fish cell lines for evaluating the chromium induced cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and oxidative stress. **Chemosphere**, [*s. l.*], v. 184, p. 1–12, 2017.

VAZQUEZ -DUHALT, R. Nonylphenol, an integrated vision of a pollutant. **Applied Ecology and Environmental Research**, [*s. l.*], v. 4, n. 1, p. 1–25, 2005.

WHITE, R. *et al.* Environmentally persistent alkylphenolic compounds are estrogenic. **Endocrinology**, [*s. l.*], v. 135, n. 1, p. 175–182, 1994.

WOLF, K.; QUIMBY, M. C. Established eurythermic line of fish cells in vitro. **Science**, [*s. l.*], v. 135, n. 3508, p. 1065–1066, 1962.

YING, G. G.; WILLIAMS, B.; KOOKANA, R. Environmental fate of alkylphenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates - A review. **Environment International**, [*s. l.*], v. 28, n. 3, p. 215–226, 2002.

ZHU, Z.; ZUO, Y. Bisphenol A and other alkylphenols in the environment - occurrence, fate, health effects and analytical techniques. **Advances in environmental research**, [s. *l*.], v. 2, n. 3, p. 179–202, 2013.

# ALKYLPHENOLS CAUSES CYTOTOXICITY AND GENOTOXICITY INDUCED BY OXIDATIVE STRESS IN RTG-2 CELL LINE

William de Almeida<sup>a, b</sup>, Jéssica Crecencio Matei<sup>b</sup>, Rafael Shinji Akiyama Kitamura<sup>c</sup>, Marcelo Pedrosa Gomes<sup>d</sup>, Daniela Morais Leme<sup>b</sup>, Helena Cristina Silva de Assis<sup>c</sup>, Taynah Vicari<sup>b</sup>, Marta Margarete Cestari<sup>b</sup>.

<sup>a</sup> Ecology and Conservation Program, Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

<sup>b</sup> Genetics Department, Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

<sup>c</sup> Pharmacology Department, Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

<sup>d</sup> Botany Department, Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

### HIGHLIGHTS

- Nonylphenol, Octylphenol and its mixture can cause loss of cell viability at low concentrations at RTG-2 cell line.

- The oxidative stress is the mediator of toxicity at all groups tested.

- Oxidative DNA damage was observed from low concentrations to both chemicals and its mixture.

# ABSTRACT

Alkylphenols ethoxylates are industrial surfactants and the releasing in the environmental matrices produce degraded products of which nonylphenol (NP) and octylphenol (OP) were the most common. They can be classified as endocrine disruptors since the estrogenic potential is widely recognized but some others toxic aspects are in discuss. The aim of this study was to evaluate the toxicity of NP, OP and mixtures of both through cellular, biochemical and genetic biomarkers in gonadal piscean cell line RTG-2 exposed to nominal concentrations of 0.05; 0.5; 5; 50 and 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> of each chemical and its mixtures of respectively concentrations. After 24 h, the cells were collected for cytotoxic (neutral red – NR; crystal violet - CV, resazurin assay – RA and lactate-dehydrogenase - LDH), antioxidant system (glutathione-s-transferase – GST; superoxide-dismutase – SOD; glutathione-peroxidase – GPx and malondialdehyde – MDA) and genotoxic assays (alkaline

comet assay and Fpg-modified alkaline comet assay). The chemicals and its mixtures were cytotoxic at 50 and 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> in general aspect but LDH showed cytotoxicity since 0.05 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>. The GST and SOD showed an increase trend in most tested groups while GPx decreased at 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> of mixture. The MDA increase in all groups resulting in lipid peroxidation. The reactive oxygen species caused DNA damage for all groups. The tested chemicals and concentrations have been found in the freshwater systems and are capable to induce cell toxicity in several parameters that could impair the gonadal tissues considering the RTG-2 responses.

Keywords: Nonylphenol, Octylphenol, Fish cell line, Biomarkers, Ecotoxicology

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Alkylphenols (AP) are surfactants agents widely used in industrial activities in its precursor form of alkylphenols ethoxylates (APEOs) (Ahel et al., 1994). The APEOs has application in oil solubility and emulsifiers to produce anionic detergents and agrochemicals, lubricants, antistatic agents, high performance textile scouring agents, antioxidants for rubber manufacture and lubricant oil additives (Araujo, Bauerfeldt, & Cid, 2018; Bhandari, Bagheri, Bhatt, & Bilal, 2021; Servos, 1999; Vazquez-Duhalt, 2005). Discharges from wastewater treatment plants has been identified as one of major source of APEOs and their degradation products to aquatic environments (Ahel et al., 1994; Chokwe et al., 2017).

The degradation of APEOs results in compounds such as nonylphenol (NP) and octylphenol (OP), the most common APs found in the environmental matrices (Gray e Metcalfe, 1999; Servos, 1999) and the two major alkylphenols used in the synthesis of APEOs (Ferguson et al., 2001). These degradation products are persistent, bioaccumulative and more toxic than their precursors (Koh, Lester, & Scrimshaw, 2005; Noorimotlagh, Haghighi, Ahmadimoghadam, & Rahim, 2017; Olaniyan, Okoh, Mkwetshana, & Okoh, 2018; Ying et al., 2002; Zhu & Zuo, 2013; Ahel et al., 1994; Giger, Brunner, & Schaffner, 1984).

Some of AP are considered priority hazardous substances in the Water Framework Directive of the European Union such as OP and NP (Acir e Guenther, 2018; Bhandari et al., 2021). The pollution of the aquatic environment caused by the discharge of the APEOs and their biodegradation products has estrogenic and toxic effects on living organisms as histopathological and morpho cellular changes (Kumaran et al., 2011; Olaniyan et al., 2018). The NP is the major metabolite discussed so far (Jardak et al., 2016) and this compound has a number of adverse effects and toxicity producing hazardous problems and diseases such as fertility and growth impairment (Bhandari et al., 2021).

About the toxic effects of NP and OP the estrogenic potential is extensively described in the scientific literature (Bonefeld-Jørgensen et al., 2007; Jobling e Sumpter, 1993; Lee e Lee, 1996; Soto et al., 1991; White et al., 1994). These APs can mimic the hormone  $17\beta$ -estradiol by binding to the estrogen receptor and displacing  $17\beta$ -estradiol in a competitive manner (Soto et al., 1991; White et al., 1994). Also these contaminants can induce toxicity on nervous and immune system and disrupt cognitive function, cause anemia and tissue damage (Kumaran et al., 2011; Acir & Guenther, 2018). A positive association has been found between exposure to NP and different cancers, like ovarian, uterine, pituitary, and testicular (Bhandari et al., 2021). NP can induce oxidative stress by generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and superoxide anion (O<sub>2</sub>-) (Noorimotlagh et al., 2017).

NP have not been found to be genotoxic or mutagenic with SOS or Ames test (Servos, 1999) but recent study shows mutation as adverse effects of NP (Bhandari et al., 2021). Despite that, genetic alterations in somatic and germ cells were found after OP exposure, what is associated with serious health effects like cancer, degenerative and inherited diseases and impairment of fertility (Olaniyan et al., 2018). In the concern of genotoxic effects of NP and OP there is a lack of unequivocal data supporting this outcomes and there is a necessity of more investigations of the genotoxic potential (Mertens et al., 2016). DNA damage is an important concern due to possibility of cancer developing, cell death or aging process if the damage is not repaired (Hoeijmakers, 2009).

Despite the considerations about the environmental issues and significant importance of NP and OP, the number of studies is also limited (Bhandari et al., 2021; Olaniyan et al., 2018) thus there is a necessity to bring more evidences and explanations about the toxic mechanisms of these chemicals in an environmental health context. In the light of the above data and considering the concern of NP and OP effect on reproduction axis, the aim of our study was to evaluate the effects of exposure to NP and OP and a mixture of both compounds, on a fish cell line derived from gonadal tissue (*Oncorrynchus mykiss* - RTG-2 cell lineage) using cellular, biochemical and genetic toxicity approaches. RTG-2 has been chosen as biological model because this cell line have been useful for environmental assessment of contaminants also reducing the cost and avoid the use of vertebrates without increasing significantly the level of uncertainty in the assessment (Castanõ et al., 1996; Rodrigues et al., 2020). Knowing that alkylphenols are estrogenic, the gonadal tissue acts as a target tissue, for this reason the use of a fish gonadal cell lineage may be an important model to bring evidences and step up explanations about the toxicity effects of NP and OP. In addition to that our work investigate the mixture of both compounds, enabling analysis of this environmental concentrations in a fish model to find out significant effects to aquatic wildlife.

### 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

### 2.1 CELL CULTURE AND EXPOSURE CONDITIONS

RTG-2 cells, obtained from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (UK, ECACC 90102529), were cultured in L-15 medium with L-glutamine (Gibco<sup>®</sup>), supplemented with 10% FBS (Gibco<sup>®</sup>), and 1% antibiotic (penicillin and streptomycin, Gibco<sup>®</sup>) at 20 °C in a B.O.D. incubator. Subcultures were performed when the cells reached ~80% confluence.

The RTG-2 cells were seeded into 96-well plates (2 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well), 6-well plates (9 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well) and 24-well plates (7 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well) for cytotoxicity, enzymatic and genotoxicity assays respectively and, then incubated at 20 °C for 48 h before the exposure. Thereafter, the cells were exposed to the contaminants or a mixture of them during 24 h. 4-Nonylphenol (CAS N°. 104-40-5, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>) and 4-Octylphenol (CAS N°. 1806-26-04, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>) were dissolved in DMSO and the stock solution was diluted to the cell culture media prior to treatment to prepare the desired concentration, not exceeding the concentration of 0.1% (v/v) per well of DMSO. The concentrations used are within the spectrum of quantification of both chemicals in aquatic environment (Medvedeva et al., 2017; Ying et al., 2002). All experiments were performed in three independent replicates.

### 2.2 CYTOTOXICITY ASSAYS

The average absorbance at each concentration was calculated and expressed as the percentage of viability of cells with different concentrations of NP, OP and mixtures of both in relation to control. The nominal concentrations used for each chemical was: 0.05, 0.5, 5, 50 and 100  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, and the mixtures of respective concentrations was performed (0.05 NP + 0.05 OP; 0.5 NP + 0.5 OP; 5 NP + 5 OP; 50 NP + 50 OP and 100 NP + 100  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP). The supplemented L-15 medium and the supplemented L-15 medium with 0.1% DMSO (v/v) were used as negative control (NC) and solvent control (SC), respectively, Triton x-100 1% (v/v) was used as positive control (PC).

Neutral Red (NR) uptake assay (Repetto et al., 2008) measures viability, which is based on the absorbance of the vital dye NR internalized in lysosomes by living cells, but not by dead cells. After a 24 h exposure period, the exposure medium was replaced by 100  $\mu$ L medium containing 40  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> NR (CAS N°. 553-24-2, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>), which had been pre-incubated overnight at 20 °C. After *in situ* incubation for 3 h at 20 °C, the content in the wells were removed. Then, destained solution containing 150  $\mu$ L of glacial acetic acid 33% (0.2 mL; Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>), ethanol 96% (10 mL; Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>) and ultrapure water (10 mL) was added. After 10 min of plate agitation at room temperature, the absorbance of the solution in each well was measured at 540 nm with a microplate reader (TECAN - Infinite<sup>®</sup> 200).

Crystal Violet (CV) proliferation assay (Bonnekoh et al., 1989; Taju et al., 2017) was carried out to examine the growth of the cells exposed to the toxicants. After a 24 h exposure period, the medium was removed and the cells were washed with 200  $\mu$ L PBS 1X (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH = 7.4), then added 100  $\mu$ L/well of CV solution (0.25 mg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, Merck<sup>®</sup>) and incubated for 20 min at room temperature. After that the solution was replaced and the wells were washed with ultrapure water twice then destained with 100  $\mu$ L glacial acetic acid (Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>), 33% (v/v). The absorbance of the wells was measured at 570 nm with a microplate reader (TECAN - Infinite<sup>®</sup> 200).

Lactate-dehydrogenase (LDH) assay (Baron et al., 2012; Scholz e Segner, 1999) measures viability which is based on the leakage of cytoplasmatic LDH into the medium by cells with injured plasma membrane. After 24 h exposure period, the plates were centrifuged for 5 min and kept on ice. Then 50 µL of exposure media was

removed from each well and added in a new 96-well clear microplate that was maintained on ice. After 250  $\mu$ L of reaction buffer (50 mM Tris/HCI CAS N°. 118-53-1, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>; 0.14 mM NADH CAS N°. 606-68-8, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>; pH 7.5) was added to each well. The plate was allowed to stand at room temperature for 5 min and the reaction started with the addition of 25  $\mu$ L of 12.1 mM sodium pyruvate (CAS N°. 113-24-6, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>) dissolved in 50 mM Tris/HCI (pH 7.5). The wells were briefly mixed and the absorbance recorded for 20 min at 25 °C at 340 nm with a microplate reader (TECAN - Infinite<sup>®</sup> 200).

Resazurin assay (RA) (Borra et al., 2009; Hamid et al., 2004) was performed to detect viability based on mitochondrial metabolic activity through measure of resorufin product formed after transformation of resazurin dye in the viable cells. After 24 h exposure period, 20  $\mu$ L of resazurin solution (440  $\mu$ M in PBS 1X - 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH = 7.4; final concentration of 10% v/v in each well) was added in each well and incubated for 3 h at 20 °C. Then the fluorescence was measured at 560 nm excitation wavelength and at 590 nm emission wavelength by a microplate reader (TECAN - Infinite<sup>®</sup> 200). A reduced solution form was performed autoclaving the resazurin solution and measured in the same conditions to guarantee the effectiveness of the assay. The relative fluorescence units were calculated and the arbitrary values used to express viability percentage.

### 2.3 BIOCHEMICAL ASSAYS

The nominal concentrations used for each chemical was: 0.05, 0.5, and 5  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, and the mixtures of respective concentrations were performed (0.05 NP + 0.05 OP; 0.5 NP + 0.5 OP and 5 NP + 5  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP; for this biomarker we used only concentrations that were non-lethal to cells in cytotoxicity assays). The supplemented L-15 medium and L-15 medium with 0.1% DMSO (v/v) was used as negative (NC) and solvent control (SC), respectively. After exposure, the cells were collected and the homogenates were centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes, at 4 °C and resuspended in PBS 1x (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH = 7.4). The supernatant was collected and then stored at -80 °C.

The biochemical biomarkers evaluated utilized the protocols as follows: glutathione S-transferase (GST, Keen et al., 1976), superoxide dismutase (SOD, Gao

et al., 1998), glutathione peroxidase (GPx, Hafeman et al., 1974). These assays measure the enzymes activity belonging to antioxidant system.

To analyses damage to macromolecules originated from reactive oxygen species (EROS), the malondialdehyde concentration was measured (MDA, Hodges et al., 1999). This assay informs if EROS were capable to causes lipid peroxidation in exposed cells.

The quantification of total proteins was made according to method proposed by Bradford (1976).

### 2.4 GENOTOXICITY ASSAYS

The nominal concentrations used for each chemical was: 0.05, 0.5, and 5  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup>, and the mixtures of respective concentrations were performed (0.05 NP + 0.05 OP; 0.5 NP + 0.5 OP and 5 NP + 5  $\mu$ g.mL<sup>-1</sup> OP; for this biomarker we used only concentrations that were non-lethal to cells in cytotoxicity assays). The supplemented L-15 medium and the L-15 medium with 0.1% DMSO (v/v) were used as negative (NC) and solvent control (SC), respectively. MMS (0.5 mM) and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, 50  $\mu$ M) were used as positive controls (PC) of the standard alkaline and Fpgmodified (as described by Tice et al., 2000) alkaline versions of comet assay, respectively. After exposure period, 10  $\mu$ L of single-cell suspensions were used in the Trypan Blue Dye Exclusion Test to verify cell viability. The results indicate more than 80% of viable cells in all treatments (data not shown), which is a necessary condition to perform the *in vitro* comet assay.

The comet assay (Singh et al., 1988) with modifications (Ferraro et al., 2004) was performed to detect DNA damage. The single cell suspensions (100  $\mu$ L) were resuspended in 120  $\mu$ L of low-melting point agarose (0.5% w/v in PBS 1x -137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH = 7.4) and spread on 1.5% agarose-coated slides. After agarose solidification at 4 °C for 10 min, the slides were immersed in a freshly prepared lysis solution (2.5 M NaCl, 100 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris-HCl, 1% N-Lauryl sarcosine, pH 10; 1% Triton X-100 and 10% DMSO) *overnight*. The slides were transferred to a horizontal electrophoresis tank, filled with freshly electrophoresis buffer (200 mM EDTA, 10 M NaOH, pH > 13) at 4 °C for 25 min. Then, the electrophoresis was performed at 300 mA and 1 V/cm for 25 min. After that, the slides were neutralized with neutralization buffer (4.85% Tris-HCl, pH 7.5)

during 15 min (3 baths of 5 min each one) and were dehydrated in ethanol 100% for 5 min.

Oxidative DNA damages were assessed through Fpg-modified alkaline version of the comet assay described above (Collins et al., 1993; Reeves et al., 2008). An additional step after lysis was conducted, in which the slides were washed 3 times for 5 min with enzyme buffer (40 mM HEPES, 0.1 M KCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 0.2 mg/mL BSA; pH 8). Afterward, 50  $\mu$ L of enzyme solution (0.08 U/slide Fpg) were pipetted on the slides which were incubated for 30 min at 37 °C in a moistened chamber. Finally, the slides were submitted to electrophoresis, as described above.

The slides were stained with ethidium bromide (20  $\mu$ g/mL; CAS N°. 1239-45-8, Sigma-Aldrich<sup>®</sup>) and comets were scored using a LEICA epifluorescence microscope (DMLS2). For each treatment and control group, 100 cells were visually analyzed according to the method of Koppen et al. (2017) with elucidations of Azqueta et al. (2011), with "tails" from class 0 (no tail) to class 4 (tail much longer than the diameter of the comet head) resulting into a score from 0 (no detectable DNA damage) to 400 (excessive DNA damage).

### 2.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The difference between groups was verified using a one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnet post-hoc test, both fitted to a permutational linear model through Imp function (ImPerm package 2.1.0 version; Wheeler, Torchiano, 2016). This model was chosen because it did not request that values of observations and residuals fits to a normal distribution, thus executing permutational tests to obtain p values from iterations belonging to original data distribution. A significance level of 95% was assumed. All analysis were performed in R software (4.1.0 version; R Core Team, 2021).

### 3. RESULTS

No significant difference was observed between NC and SC (p > 0.05). Due to this reason, only NC was used as control parameter to compare treatment groups.

NR, CV and RA showed decreased in cell viability at 50 and 100 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 1A, B and C, respectively) for NP, OP and the mixture of both. LDH leakage detected increase in cytotoxicity at all concentrations of chemicals and its mixture (Fig. 1D).



**Fig. 1.** Cytotoxicity in RTG-2 exposed to nonylphenol (NP), octylphenol (OP) and the mixture (NP+OP) of contaminants after 24 h of exposure, evaluated with neutral red assay (A), crystal violet assay (B), resazurin assay (C) and lactate dehydrogenase assay (D). The results are graphically expressed as mean ± standard deviation.

### **3.2 BIOCHEMICAL BIOMARKERS**

The GST activity increased significantly in RTG-2 cells exposed at 0.05 and 5  $\mu$ g.mL-1 OP and increase highly at all concentrations of mixtures (NP + OP). SOD activity was increased at 0.5  $\mu$ g.mL-1 NP and at all concentrations of OP and the mixture of both. GPx had a significant decreased at 5  $\mu$ g.mL-1 NP + OP and MDA concentration increased at all treatments and tested concentrations, compared to the control group (Table 1).

·										
Biomarkers	Negative	0.05	0.5	5	0.05	0.5	5	0.05	0.5	5
GST	3.87 ±	3.50 ±	4.16 ±	4.62 ±	8.59* ±	5.67 ±	7.47* ±	27.21* ±	26.84* ±	29.99* ±
	1.23	2.13	2.81	1.65	0.75	2.89	1.31	8.11	6.06	4.66
SOD	111.79 ±	160.53* ±	219.84* ±	162.79* ±	184.66* ±	312.75* ±	245.30* ±	209.08* ±	197.50* ±	252.59* ±
	7.02	5.48	82.19	24.99	26.73	62.80	17.05	49.71	15.40	32.04
GPx	1.92 ±	2.25 ±	1.94 ±	1.68 ±	1.96 ±	2.34 ±	1.87 ±	1.57 ±	1.56 ±	1.33* ±
	0.40	0.94	0.25	0.36	0.33	0.76	0.28	0.16	0.19	0.09
MDA	14.23 ±	27.76* ±	25.73* ±	24.91* ±	27.96* ±	26.01* ±	23.87* ±	26.98* ±	28.66* ±	30.02* ±
	1.37	1.29	2.48	2.31	2.08	2.42	2.68	5.47	0.72	3.11

Table 1: Biochemical biomarkers in RTG-2 exposed to nonylphenol (NP), octylphenol (OP) and the mixture (NP+OP) of contaminants after 24 h of exposure.

ties = nmol.min<sup>-1</sup>.mg protein<sup>-</sup>

<sup>1</sup>; SOD acitivity = U.mg protein<sup>-1</sup>; MDA concentration = nmol.min<sup>-1</sup>.mg protein<sup>-1</sup>. The results are expressed as mean ± standard deviation.

### **3.3 GENOTOXIC BIOMARKERS**

In the alkaline comet assay, no changes were observed in the DNA damage score in any chemical treatment and concentration, except at 5 µg.mL-1 NP (Fig. 2A, B and C). In the oxidative version of comet assay, DNA damage was observed in both chemicals and mixtures at all tested concentrations (Fig. 2D, E and F).



**Fig. 2.** Score of DNA damage (alkaline and oxidative version) in RTG-2 exposed to nonylphenol (NP) (A and D), octylphenol (OP) (B and E) and mixture of contaminants (NP + OP) (C and F) for 24 h. The results are expressed as median  $\pm$  quartiles. Asterisk (\*) indicate significant difference with NC (p < 0.05), using one-way ANOVA followed by the Dunnet test.

### 4. DISCUSSION

In the cytotoxicity assays, a general pattern was observed in our results with the NR, CV, RA and LDH demonstrating effect on cell viability at same concentrations independent of chemicals group. These chemicals proved to be cytotoxicity to RTG-2 cell line at highest concentrations when considered the lysosomal membrane integrity, mitochondrial metabolism and cell proliferation but, at low concentrations, NP and OP, isolated or in mixture at equivalent concentrations, affect plasma membrane integrity as evidenced in the LDH assay.

Considering this result, it is important to know that NP and OP showed loss of cell viability in several others studies affecting mitochondrial functions (Argese et al., 1994; Lepretti et al., 2015; Tollefsen et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2007), disrupting cell membranes of different organelles (Kaptaner, 2016; Lamche e Burkhardt-Holm, 2000; Le Gac et al., 2001; Nair-Menon et al., 1996; Park e Choi, 2007; Qian et al., 2006; Xiao et al., 2011), cell swelling (Kim et al., 2018) and affecting cell proliferation (Colerangle e Roy, 1996; Lei et al., 2020; Lepretti et al., 2015; Xiao et al., 2007). Thus, we saw that injury in cell membrane is a recurrent impairment caused by this alkylphenols and this pattern may be due to capacity of them to disrupt mechanisms associated with lipid metabolism reducing levels of phospholipids involved in membrane fluidity, stability and permeability (Olsvik e Søfteland, 2020). Another interesting point is that the most of these mentioned effects were measured in mammal cells while our work identified similar pattern with fish model, corroborating with previously evidences and showing these potential negative impacts to aquatic life.

The LDH assay was an important technique in our study because its sensibility to evidence early cell damage corroborating with *in vivo* studies that presents loss of membrane structure, atrophy, inflammation and necrosis in gonads and other tissues of fish and other organisms (Asifa e Chitra, 2018; Jayasree et al., 2018; Magnifico et al., 2018; Noorimotlagh et al., 2017) induced by NP or OP exposition. Also the increase in LDH levels indicated tissue damage in an *in vivo* fish exposed to OP in a sub-chronic 7 days experiment and in male rats exposed to NP and OP (Korkmaz et al., 2010; Kumaran et al., 2011). The cytotoxicity data can suggest early effects of current problems such as morphological alterations of gonads due to alkylphenol expositions (Gimeno et al., 1996). Thus, the cytotoxic effect may be considered an earlier indication of cellular damage, with possible biological consequences (Park e Choi, 2007). The use of different *endpoints* such as we performed in this study may reveal particular considerations in cytotoxicity induced by chemicals.

Another important issue of the LDH assay result is the fact that it can be explained due to reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by metabolism during chemical exposure, leading to the increase in the plasma membrane permeability and the consequence leakage of this enzyme, indicating cell necrosis (Lei et al., 2020; Sayed e Hamed, 2017). The NP and OP are estrogenic compounds with the possibility to cause ROS-induced cytotoxicity effects (Okai et al., 2004a). Many studies indicate the enhance of cell ROS content after NP and OP exposition in different biological models (Aydoğan et al., 2010; Choi et al., 2014; Gong e Han, 2006; Magnifico et al., 2018; Okai et al., 2004b; Qi et al., 2013; Xiao et al., 2007; Zhong et al., 2017). The mechanism of ROS increase by NP exposure and the consequent oxidative reactions may be responsible for its toxicity (Kazemi et al., 2016). A recent published study concluded that ROS production is the dominant mechanism of NP and OP cellular toxicity (Yang et al., 2021).

The biochemical biomarkers in our study support the oxidative stress phenomena, which could be attributed to the production of ROS content and the incapacity of cells to neutralize them. Although GST and SOD increased activity in almost all exposed groups, the GPx activity in the RTG-2 did not shown any remarkable change within 24 h (except in 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP + OP, in which a decreased was observed). Besides, the MDA content increases in all concentrations tested and mixtures. These results suggest that NP, OP and their mixtures were capable to induce antioxidant system of RTG-2 cells with different enzymatic responses but it was not sufficient to block lipid peroxidation (LPO). This evidence was also verified in fish hepatocytes exposed to low concentrations of OP for 24 h. In hepatocytes, the involved cell membrane damage by leakage of LDH and toxicity mechanism elevating LPO, by induced oxidative stress as a result of overwhelmed antioxidant system (Kaptaner, 2016). Considering these observations in our study, the biochemical biomarkers support the plasma membrane damage in cytotoxicity biomarker at low concentrations of OP, NP and the mixture of both contaminants.

Oxidative stress after NP and OP exposure appears to be common in spite of different results of antioxidant enzymes activities, variating among biological models and tissues/cell types (De la Parra-Guerra e Olivero-Verbel, 2020; Gong e Han, 2006; Jayasree et al., 2018; Korkmaz et al., 2010; Li et al., 2018; Medvedeva et al., 2017; Park e Choi, 2009; Saggu et al., 2014; Sayed e Hamed, 2017; Sreedevi e Chitra, 2014; Zhong et al., 2017). Another important context about the biochemical biomarkers in our study is that one of the primary actions of NP in cells is the generation of superoxide, which may be responsible for NP induced cell growth

inhibition (Okai et al., 2004b). This information could be linked to the CV results but the methodological limitations and loss of information about the role of OP in its mechanisms allow just an interrogation about this trend. Molecular docking studies revealed that NP have binding pockets in the SOD enzyme with different types of interactions (Jayakanthan et al., 2015). SOD plays roles on catalyze superoxide anions dismutation reaction to generate  $O_2$  and  $H_2O_2$ , this being the most stable form of ROS, which could penetrate the cell membrane and cause oxidative damage (Li et al., 2018). In our study is possible to visualize an enhancement of SOD but a stable or decrease in activity of GPx, responsible to convert  $H_2O_2$  in  $H_2O$ , bringing more evidence to oxidative stress and possible overproduction of ROS in RTG-2 cells exposed to these alkylphenols.

We can infer that an oxidative imbalance between ROS production and the antioxidant system induce cell damage in RTG-2 cells. In this case, beyond MDA levels, DNA damage was recorded in the comet assay. The alkaline version not shown any significant difference except in the 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> NP and this positive result was probably caused by oxidative DNA damage but the limitation of the alkaline version in accurately detect this type of damage, showed no difference in others treatments like was observed in other study with RTG-2 cells exposed to nanomaterials, in which alkaline comet assay did not show DNA damage in some groups due to technic limitations (Klingelfus et al., 2019). In order to investigate the possibility of oxidative DNA damage, the Fpg-modified comet assay was performed and this assay evidenced DNA damage to all concentrations of NP, OP and the mixtures. The oxidation of DNA is another damage caused by ROS in the cells, being critically important for cell functions, which can result in mutations (Lushchak, 2016). Genotoxicity induced by NP or OP was verified in other in vitro and in vivo studies, but normally above environmental concentrations. Also, the sensibility and significance vary between the methods used as well as the parameters and time of exposure (Atienzar et al., 2002; Frassinetti et al., 2011; Harréus et al., 2002; Oliveira et al., 2021; Park e Choi, 2007; Saggu et al., 2014; Sharma e Chadha, 2017; Tayama et al., 2008; Ulutaş et al., 2011).

Some studies did not detect DNA damage induced by NP and OP even at high concentrations (Rivero et al., 2008; Talorete et al., 2001). Other studies showed a lower induction of DNA damage due to capacity of the biological model to prevent the generation of ROS and consequently inhibit DNA damage (Zhong et al., 2017). The genotoxic effects of alkylphenols deserve more investigations and mechanistic approaches, even so our results clearly indicate oxidative DNA damage in RTG-2 cells caused after exposure by NP, OP and the mixture of both. This impairment was detected in other studies that discussed the involvement of genotoxicity of NP mediated by ROS and oxidative stress (Kim et al., 2018; Park e Choi, 2009; Sharma e Chadha, 2020). Evidences of DNA damage was found after NP exposure which has been shown to exert DNA-damaging effect due to its biotransformation into reactive intermediates, causing changes at the DNA level after biotransformation process (Sharma e Chadha, 2017) or due to its micro tubular disrupting activity (Vazquez -Duhalt, 2005). This micro tubular disrupting may induce DNA adduct formation, point mutation, strand breaks and genomic rearrangements (Park e Choi, 2009; Sharma e Chadha, 2017). Increased DNA damage may also lead to apoptosis. After exposure to NP, apoptosis was observed in mammalian, algae and fish cells (Choi et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2018, 2006; Lamche e Burkhardt-Holm, 2000; Lei et al., 2020; Lepretti et al., 2015; Mekkawy et al., 2011; Miura et al., 2005; Qian et al., 2006; Sayed et al., 2019; Zhong et al., 2017). The same effect was described after the exposure to OP (Nair-Menon et al., 1996; Sreedevi e Chitra, 2014). This effect may be due to the responses of nonylphenol on cell membranes (Sayed e Hamed, 2017; Schwaiger et al., 2000) and this argument could be linked with cytotoxicity biomarkers data analyzed in our study,, once cytotoxic effects of NP and OP can involve DNA fragmentation (Kim et al., 2006). Unfortunately, little is known about the OP DNA damage mechanisms what limits our discussion to consider the similar results of both chemicals and its mixtures.

The DNA damage detected by comet assay is possible to be repaired but the mere presence of genotoxic compounds is a major concern in human and ecosystem health. The rapid and sensitive detection of genotoxic properties in aquatic system is considered important, although it does not include alteration at a higher level of biological organization (Park e Choi, 2007). Studies linking DNA damage to subsequent molecular, cellular and tissue level alteration of aquatic organisms have been performed (Ohe et al., 2004) and the use of fish cell lines can improve techniques and measurements for this studies.

### **5. CONCLUSION**

In general, NP and OP showed similar toxicity responses as well the mixtures of both chemicals in RTG-2 cell line. The major inducing of cell viability loss was recorded at concentrations above 5 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup>, but we detected a significant plasma membrane damage since 0.05 µg.mL<sup>-1</sup> and this can be linked with the stress oxidative response that resulted in lipid peroxidation of cells. This imbalance of antioxidant system and consequent impairment of cell functions affected the DNA integrity, which showed genotoxicity at low concentrations. The results suggested negative impacts in the RTG-2 cell line, warning about the possible effects on fish gonads and demonstrating the potential of this cell line in assessment of alkylphenols at environmental concentrations.

### REFERENCES

- Acir, I.H., Guenther, K., 2018. Endocrine-disrupting metabolites of alkylphenol ethoxylates A critical review of analytical methods, environmental occurrences, toxicity, and regulation. Sci. Total Environ. 635, 1530–1546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.079
- Ahel, M., Giger, W., Schaffner, C., 1994. Behaviour of alkylphenol polyethoxylate surfactants in the aquatic environment-II. Occurrence and transformation in rivers. Water Res. 28, 1143–1152. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(94)90201-1
- Araujo, F.G. DE, Bauerfeldt, G.F., Cid, Y.P., 2018. Nonylphenol: Properties, legislation, toxicity and determination. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 90, 1903–1918. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201720170023
- Argese, E., Marcomini, A., Bettiol, C., Perin, G., Miana, P., 1994. Submitochondrial particle response to linear alkylbenzene sulfonates, nonylphenol polyethoxylates and their biodegradation derivatives. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13, 737–742. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620130507
- Asifa, K.P., Chitra, K.C., 2018. Evaluation of acute toxicity of octylphenol in the cichlid fish , Pseudetroplus maculatus (Bloch , 1795). Int. J. Appl ied Res. 4, 197–203.
- Atienzar, F.A., Billinghurst, Z., Depledge, M.H., 2002. 4-n-Nonylphenol and 17-β estradiol may induce common DNA effects in developing barnacle larvae. Environ. Pollut. 120, 735–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00184-7
- Aydoğan, M., Korkmaz, A., Barlas, N., Kolankaya, D., 2010. Pro-oxidant effect of vitamin C coadministration with bisphenol A, nonylphenol, and octylphenol on the reproductive tract of male rats. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 33, 193–203. https://doi.org/10.3109/01480540903286468
- Azqueta, A., Meier, S., Priestley, C., Gutzkow, K.B., Brunborg, G., Sallette, J., Soussaline, F., Collins, A., 2011. The influence of scoring method on variability in results obtained with the comet assay. Mutagenesis 26, 393–399. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/geq105
- Baron, M.G., Purcell, W.M., Jackson, S.K., Owen, S.F., Jha, A.N., 2012. Towards a more representative in vitro method for fish ecotoxicology: Morphological and biochemical characterisation of three-dimensional spheroidal hepatocytes. Ecotoxicology 21, 2419–2429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-012-0965-5
- Bhandari, G., Bagheri, A.R., Bhatt, P., Bilal, M., 2021. Occurrence, potential ecological risks, and degradation of endocrine disrupter, nonylphenol, from the aqueous environment. Chemosphere. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130013
- Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E.C., Long, M., Hofmeister, M. V., Vinggaard, A.M., 2007. Endocrine-Disrupting Potential of Bisphenol A, Bisphenol A Dimethacrylate, 4- n -Nonylphenol, and 4- n -Octylphenol in Vitro: New Data and a Brief Review. Environ. Health Perspect. 115, 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9368
- Bonnekoh, B., Wevers, A., Jugert, F., Merk, H., Mahrle, G., 1989. Colorimetric growth assay for epidermal cell cultures by their crystal violet binding capacity. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 281, 487– 490. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00510085

- Borra, R.C., Lotufo, M.A., Gagioti, S.M., Barros, F. de M., Andrade, P.M., 2009. A simple method to measure cell viability in proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. Braz. Oral Res. 23, 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-83242009000300006
- Bradford, M.M., 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72, 248–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3
- Castano, A., Cantarino, M.J., Castillo, P., Tarazona, J., 1996. Correlations between the RTG-2 cytotoxicity test EC50 and in vivo LC50 rainbow trout bioassay. Chemosphere 32, 2141–2157.
- Choi, M.S., Park, H.J., Oh, J.H., Lee, E.H., Park, S.M., Yoon, S., 2014. Nonylphenol-induced apoptotic cell death in mouse TM4 Sertoli cells via the generation of reactive oxygen species and activation of the ERK signaling pathway. J. Appl. Toxicol. 34, 628–636. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.2886
- Chokwe, T.B., Okonkwo, J.O., Sibali, L.L., 2017. Distribution, exposure pathways, sources and toxicity of nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylates in the environment. Water SA 43, 529–542. https://doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v43i4.01
- Colerangle, J.B., Roy, D., 1996. Exposure of environmental estrogenic compound nonylphenol to Noble rats alters cell-cycle kinetics in the mammary gland. Endocrine 4, 115–122.
- Collins, A.R., Duthie, S.J., Dobson, V.L., 1993. Direct enzymic detection of endogenous oxidative base damage in human lymphocyte dna. Carcinogenesis 14, 1733–1735. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/14.9.1733
- De la Parra-Guerra, A., Olivero-Verbel, J., 2020. Toxicity of nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylate on Caenorhabditis elegans. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 187, 109709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109709
- Ferguson, P.L., Iden, C.R., Brownawell, B.J., 2001. Distribution and fate of neutral alkylphenol ethoxylate metabolites in a sewage-impacted urban estuary. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35, 2428– 2435. https://doi.org/10.1021/es001871b
- Ferraro, M.V.M., Fenocchio, A.S., Mantovani, M.S., de Oliveira Ribeiro, C., Cestari, M.M., 2004. Mutagenic effects of tributyltin and inorganic lead (Pb II) on the fish H. malabaricus as evaluated using the comet assay and the piscine micronucleus and chromosome aberration tests. Genet. Mol. Biol. 27, 103–107. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1415-47572004000100017
- Frassinetti, S., Barberio, C., Caltavuturo, L., Fava, F., Di Gioia, D., 2011. Genotoxicity of 4nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylate mixtures by the use of Saccharomyces cerevisiae D7 mutation assay and use of this text to evaluate the efficiency of biodegradation treatments. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 74, 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2010.10.039
- Gao, R., Yuan, Z., Zhao, Z., Gao, X., 1998. Mechanism of pyrogallol autoxidation and determination of superoxide dismutase enzyme activity. Bioelectrochemistry Bioenerg. 45, 41–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0302-4598(98)00072-5
- Gimeno, S., Gerritsen, A., Bowmer, T., Komen, H., 1996. Feminization of male carp. Nature 384, 221– 222. https://doi.org/10.1038/384221a0
- Gong, Y., Han, X.D., 2006. Nonylphenol-induced oxidative stress and cytotoxicity in testicular Sertoli cells. Reprod. Toxicol. 22, 623–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2006.04.019
- Gray, M.A., Metcalfe, C.D., 1999. Toxicity of 4-tert-octylphenol to early life stages of Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). Aquat. Toxicol. 46, 149–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(98)00126-X
- Hafeman, D.G., Sunde, R.A., Hoekstra, W.G., 1974. Effect of Dietary Selenium on Erythrocyte and Liver Glutathione Peroxidase in the Rat. J. Nutr. 104, 580–587. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/104.5.580
- Hamid, R., Rotshteyn, Y., Rabadi, L., Parikh, R., Bullock, P., 2004. Comparison of alamar blue and MTT assays for high through-put screening. Toxicol. Vitr. 18, 703–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2004.03.012
- Harréus, U.A., Wallner, B.C., Kastenbauer, E.R., Kleinsasser, N.H., 2002. Genotoxicity and cytotoxicity of 4-nonylphenol ethoxylate on lymphocytes as assessed by the comet assay. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 82, 395–401. https://doi.org/10.1080/0306731021000015047
- Hodges, D.M., DeLong, J.M., Forney, C.F., Prange, R.K., 1999. Improving the thiobarbituric acidreactive-substances assay for estimating lipid peroxidation in plant tissues containing anthocyanin and other interfering compounds. Planta 207, 604–611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004250050524
- Hoeijmakers, J.H.J., 2009. DNA Damage, Aging, and Cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 361, 1475–1485. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmra0804615
- Jardak, K., Drogui, P., Daghrir, R., 2016. Surfactants in aquatic and terrestrial environment:

occurrence, behavior, and treatment processes. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 3195–3216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5803-x

- Jayakanthan, M., Jubendradass, R., D'Cruz, S.C., Mathur, P.P., 2015. A Use of Homology Modeling and Molecular Docking Methods: To Explore Binding Mechanisms of Nonylphenol and Bisphenol A with Antioxidant Enzymes, in: Computational Peptidology. p. 273–289. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2285-7 12
- Jayasree, P., Sumi, N., Chitra, K., 2018. Effects of octylphenol on oxidative stress-mediated neurotoxicity in brain of the fish, Oreochromis niloticus (Linnaeus, 1758). Int. J. Fish. Aquat. Stud. 6, 52–58.
- Jobling, S., Sumpter, J.P., 1993. Detergent components in sewage effluent are weakly oestrogenic to fish: An in vitro study using rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) hepatocytes. Aquat. Toxicol. 27, 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-445X(93)90064-8
- Kaptaner, B., 2016. Cytotoxic effects of 4-octylphenol on fish hepatocytes. Cytotechnology 68, 1577– 1583. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-015-9916-3
- Kazemi, S., Mousavi Kani, S.N., Ghasemi-Kasman, M., Aghapour, F., Khorasani, H., Moghadamnia, A.A., 2016. Nonylphenol induces liver toxicity and oxidative stress in rat. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 479, 17–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.164
- Keen, J.H., Habig, W.H., Jakoby, W.B., 1976. Mechanism for the several activities of the glutathione S transferases. J. Biol. Chem. 251, 6183–6188.
- Kim, H., Oh, S., Gye, M.C., Shin, I., 2018. Comparative toxicological evaluation of nonylphenol and nonylphenol polyethoxylates using human keratinocytes. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 41, 486–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/01480545.2017.1391829
- Kim, S.K., Kim, B.K., Shim, J.H., Gil, J.E., Yoon, Y.D., Kim, J.H., 2006. Nonylphenol and octylphenolinduced apoptosis in human embryonic stem cells is related to Fas-Fas ligand pathway. Toxicol. Sci. 94, 310–321. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl114
- Klingelfus, T., Disner, G.R., Voigt, C.L., Alle, L.F., Cestari, M.M., Leme, D.M., 2019. Nanomaterials induce DNA-protein crosslink and DNA oxidation: A mechanistic study with RTG-2 fish cell line and Comet assay modifications. Chemosphere 215, 703–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.10.118
- Koh, Y.K.K., Lester, J.N., Scrimshaw, M.D., 2005. Fate and behavior of alkylphenols and their polyethoxylates in an activated sludge plant. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 75, 1098–1106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-005-0862-1
- Koppen, G., Azqueta, A., Pourrut, B., Brunborg, G., Collins, A.R., Langie, S.A.S., 2017. The next three decades of the comet assay: A report of the 11th International Comet Assay Workshop. Mutagenesis 32, 397–408. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gex002
- Korkmaz, A., Ahbab, M.A., Kolankaya, D., Barlas, N., 2010. Influence of vitamin C on bisphenol A, nonylphenol and octylphenol induced oxidative damages in liver of male rats. Food Chem. Toxicol. 48, 2865–2871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2010.07.019
- Kumaran, S.S., Kavitha, C., Ramesh, M., Grummt, T., 2011. Toxicity studies of nonylphenol and octylphenol: Hormonal, hematological and biochemical effects in Clarias gariepinus. J. Appl. Toxicol. 31, 752–761. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.1629
- Lamche, G., Burkhardt-Holm, P., 2000. Changes in apoptotic rate and cell viability in three fish epidermis cultures after exposure to nonylphenol and to a wastewater sample containing low concentrations of nonylphenol. Biomarkers 5, 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/135475000230361
- Le Gac, F., Thomas, J.L., Mourot, B., Loir, M., 2001. In vivo and in vitro effects of prochloraz and nonylphenol ethoxylates on trout spermatogenesis. Aquat. Toxicol. 53, 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00165-5
- Lee, P.C., Lee, W., 1996. In vivo estrogenic action of nonylphenol in immature female rats. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 57, 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001289900196
- Lei, J.-H., Yan, W., Luo, C.-H., Guo, Y.-M., Zhang, Y.-Y., Wang, X.-H., Su, X.-J., 2020. Cytotoxicity of nonylphenol on spermatogonial stem cells via phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/protein kinase B/mammalian target of rapamycin pathway. World J. Stem Cells 12, 500–513. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v12.i6.500
- Lepretti, M., Paolella, G., Giordano, D., Marabotti, A., Gay, F., Capaldo, A., Esposito, C., Caputo, I., 2015. 4-Nonylphenol reduces cell viability and induces apoptosis and ER-stress in a human epithelial intestinal cell line. Toxicol. Vitr. 29, 1436–1444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2015.04.022
- Li, X. yi, Wei, F., Gao, J. shu, Wang, H. yuan, Zhang, Y. hui, 2018. Oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity of Rana chensinensis exposed to low doses of octylphenol. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 64, 86– 93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2018.09.011

- Lushchak, V.I., 2016. Contaminant-induced oxidative stress in fish: a mechanistic approach. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 42, 711–747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-015-0171-5
- Magnifico, M.C., Xhani, M., Popov, M., Saso, L., Sarti, P., Arese, M., 2018. Nonylphenol and Octylphenol Differently Affect Cell Redox Balance by Modulating the Nitric Oxide Signaling. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2018, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1684827
- Medvedeva, N., Zaytseva, T., Kuzikova, I., 2017. Cellular responses and bioremoval of nonylphenol by the bloom-forming cyanobacterium Planktothrix agardhii 1113. J. Mar. Syst. 171, 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2017.01.009
- Mekkawy, I.A., Mahmoud, U.M., Sayed, A.E.D.H., 2011. Effects of 4-nonylphenol on blood cells of the African catfish Clarias gariepinus (Burchell, 1822). Tissue Cell 43, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2011.03.006
- Mertens, B., Simon, C., Bossuyt, M. Van, Onghena, M., Vandermarken, T., Langenhove, K. Van, Demaegdt, H., Hoeck, E. Van, Loco, J. Van, Vandermeiren, K., Covaci, A., Scippo, M., Elskens, M., Verschaeve, L., 2016. Investigation of the genotoxicity of substances migrating from polycarbonate replacement baby bottles to identify chemicals of high concern. Food Chem. Toxicol. 89, 126–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2016.01.009
- Miura, C., Takahashi, N., Michino, F., Miura, T., 2005. The effect of para-nonylphenol on Japanese eel (Anguilla japonica) spermatogenesis in vitro. Aquat. Toxicol. 71, 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2004.10.015
- Nair-Menon, J.U., Campbell, G.T., Blake, C.A., 1996. Toxic effects of octylphenol on cultured rat and murine splenocytes. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 139, 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.1996.0185
- Noorimotlagh, Z., Haghighi, N.J., Ahmadimoghadam, M., Rahim, F., 2017. An updated systematic review on the possible effect of nonylphenol on male fertility. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 3298–3314. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7960-y
- Ohe, T., Watanabe, T., Wakabayashi, K., 2004. Mutagens in surface waters: A review. Mutat. Res. -Rev. Mutat. Res. 567, 109–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2004.08.003
- Okai, Y., Sato, E.F., Higashi-Okai, K., Inoue, M., 2004a. Enhancing effect of the endocrine disruptor para-nonylphenol on the generation of reactive oxygen species in human blood neutrophils. Environ. Health Perspect. 112, 553–556. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6584
- Okai, Y., Sato, E.F., Higashi-Okai, K., Inoue, M., 2004b. Effect of endocrine disruptor paranonylphenol on the cell growth and oxygen radical generation in Escherichia coli mutant cells deficient in catalase and superoxide dismutase. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 37, 1412–1418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2004.07.001
- Olaniyan, L.W.B., Okoh, O.O., Mkwetshana, N.T., Okoh, A.I., 2018. Environmental Water Pollution, Endocrine Interference and Ecotoxicity of 4-tert-Octylphenol: A Review, in: Reviews ofEnvironmental Contamination and Toxicology. p. 81–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/398\_2018\_20
- Oliveira, K.M.G. de, Carvalho, E.H. de S., Santos Filho, R. dos, Sivek, T.W., Thá, E.L., Souza, I.R. de, Coelho, L.D. de S., Pimenta, M.E.B., Oliveira, G.A.R. de, Oliveira, D.P. de, Cestari, M.M., Leme, D.M., 2021. Single and mixture toxicity evaluation of three phenolic compounds to the terrestrial ecosystem. J. Environ. Manage. 296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113226
- Olsvik, P.A., Søfteland, L., 2020. Mixture toxicity of chlorpyrifos-methyl, pirimiphos-methyl, and nonylphenol in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) hepatocytes. Toxicol. Reports 7, 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxrep.2020.03.008
- Park, S.Y., Choi, J., 2009. Genotoxic effects of nonylphenol and bisphenol a exposure in aquatic biomonitoring species: Freshwater crustacean, daphnia magna, and aquatic midge, chironomus riparius. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 83, 463–468. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-009-9745-1
- Park, S.Y., Choi, J., 2007. Cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and ecotoxicity assay using human cell and environmental species for the screening of the risk from pollutant exposure. Environ. Int. 33, 817–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2007.03.014
- Qi, Y., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, W., 2013. Nonylphenol decreases viability and arrests cell cycle via reactive oxygen species in Raji cells. Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. 65, 69–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etp.2011.06.002
  - Qian, J., Bian, Q., Cui, L., Chen, J., Song, L., Wang, X., 2006. Octylphenol induces apoptosis in cultured rat Sertoli cells. Toxicol. Lett. 166, 178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2006.06.646
- R Core Team (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available in: <a href="https://www.R-project.org/">https://www.R-project.org/</a>>.
- Reeves, J.F., Davies, S.J., Dodd, N.J.F., Jha, A.N., 2008. Hydroxyl radicals ({radical dot}OH) are associated with titanium dioxide (TiO2) nanoparticle-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative DNA damage in fish cells. Mutat. Res. Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen. 640, 113–122.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2007.12.010

- Repetto, G., del Peso, A., Zurita, J.L., 2008. Neutral red uptake assay for the estimation of cell viability/ cytotoxicity. Nat. Protoc. 3, 1125–1131. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.75
- Rivero, C.L.G., Barbosa, A.C., Ferreira, M.F.N., Dorea, J.G., Grisolia, C.K., 2008. Evaluation of genotoxicity and effects on reproduction of nonylphenol in Oreochromis niloticus (Pisces: cichlidae). Ecotoxicology 17, 732–737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-008-0222-0
- Rodrigues, E.T., Varela, A.T., Pardal, M.A., Sardão, V.A., 2020. Cell-based assays as an alternative for the study of aquatic toxicity of pharmaceuticals. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 7145–7155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-07384-0
- Saggu, S., Sakeran, M.I., Zidan, N., Tousson, E., Mohan, A., Rehman, H., 2014. Ameliorating effect of chicory (Chichorium intybus L.) fruit extract against 4-tert-octylphenol induced liver injury and oxidative stress in male rats. Food Chem. Toxicol. 72, 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2014.06.029
- Sayed, A.E.D.H., Hamed, H.S., 2017. Induction of apoptosis and DNA damage by 4-nonylphenol in African catfish (Clarias gariepinus) and the antioxidant role of Cydonia oblonga. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 139, 97–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.01.024
- Sayed, A.E.D.H., Kotb, A.M., Oda, S., Kashiwada, S., Mitani, H., 2019. Protective effect of p53 knockout on 4-nonylphenol-induced nephrotoxicity in medaka (Oryzias latipes). Chemosphere 236, 124314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.07.045
- Scholz, S., Segner, H., 1999. Induction of CYP1A in primary cultures of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) liver cells: Concentration-response relationships of four model substances. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 43, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1006/eesa.1999.1786
- Schwaiger, J., Spieser, O.H., Bauer, C., Ferling, H., Mallow, U., Kalbfus, W., Negele, R.D., 2000. Chronic toxicity of nonylphenol and ethinylestradiol: Haematological and histopathological effects in juvenile Common carp (Cyprinus carpio). Aquat. Toxicol. 51, 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(00)00098-9
- Servos, M.R., 1999. Review of the Aquatic Toxicity, Estrogenic Responses and Bioaccumulation of Alkylphenols and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylates. Water Qual. Res. J. 34, 123–178. https://doi.org/10.2166/wqrj.1999.005
- Sharma, M., Chadha, P., 2020. From genotoxicity induction to recovery in different organs in fish channa punctatus after sub chronic exposure to 4- nonylphenol. Toxicol. Int. 27, 34–43. https://doi.org/10.18311/ti/2020/v27i1&2/25234
- Sharma, M., Chadha, P., 2017. Widely used non-ionic surfactant 4-nonylphenol: showing genotoxic effects in various tissues of Channa punctatus. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 11331–11339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8759-1
- Singh, N.P., McCoy, M.T., Tice, R.R., Schneider, E.L., 1988. A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells. Exp. Cell Res. 175, 184–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(88)90265-0
- Soto, A.M., Justicia, H., Wray, J.W., Sonnenschein, C., 1991. p-Nonyl-phenol: An estrogenic xenobiotic released from "modified" polystyrene. Environ. Health Perspect. 92, 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9192167
- Sreedevi, N. V, Chitra, K.C., 2014. Biochemical and Genotoxic Effects of Octylphenol in Hepato-Mitochondrial Fractions of Freshwater Fish, Oreochromis Mossambicus. J. Cell Tissue Res. 14.
- Taju, G., Abdul Majeed, S., Nambi, K.S.N., Sahul Hameed, A.S., 2017. Application of fish cell lines for evaluating the chromium induced cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and oxidative stress. Chemosphere 184, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.05.151
- Talorete, T.P.N., Isoda, H., Maekawa, T., 2001. Alkylphenolic compounds and their effect on the injury rate, survival and acetylcholinesterase activity of the rat neuronal cell line PC12. Cytotechnology 36, 163–169. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014024516821
- Tayama, S., Nakagawa, Y., Tayama, K., 2008. Genotoxic effects of environmental estrogen-like compounds in CHO-K1 cells. Mutat. Res. - Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen. 649, 114–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2007.08.006
- Tice, R., Agurel, E., Anderson, D., Burlinson, B., Hartman, A., Kobayashi, H., Rojas, E., Ryu, J.C Sasaki, Y., 2000. Single cell gel/comet assay: guidelines for in vitro and in vivo genetic toxicology. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 35, 206–221. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)10982280(2000)35:3<206::aid-em8>3.0.co;2-j
- Tollefsen, K.E., Blikstad, C., Eikvar, S., Farmen Finne, E., Katharina Gregersen, I., 2008. Cytotoxicity of alkylphenols and alkylated non-phenolics in a primary culture of rainbow trout (Onchorhynchus mykiss) hepatocytes. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 69, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.12.005

- 45
- Ulutaş, O.K., YIldız, N., Durmaz, E., Ahbab, M.A., Barlas, N., Çok, I., 2011. An in vivo assessment of the genotoxic potential of bisphenol A and 4-tert-octylphenol in rats. Arch. Toxicol. 85, 995–1001. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-010-0620-y
- Vazquez -Duhalt, R., 2005. NONYLPHENOL, AN INTEGRATED VISION OF A POLLUTANT. Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res. 4, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/0401\_001025
- Wheeler, Bob; Torchiano, Marco (2016). ImPerm: Permutation Tests for Linear Models. R package version 2.1.0. Available in: <a href="https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ImPerm">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ImPerm</a>>.
- White, R., Jobling, S., Hoare, S.A., Sumpter, J.P., Parker, M.G., 1994. Environmentally persistent alkylphenolic compounds are estrogenic. Endocrinology 135, 175–182. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.135.1.8013351
- Xiao, Q., Li, D., Liu, H., 2011. A flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus) gill cell line as in vitro acute assay system of nonylphenol cytotoxicity. Environ. Monit. Assess. 175, 315–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1533-1
- Xiao, Q., Zhang, S., Guo, H., Su, F., Xu, Y., 2007. Nonylphenol causes decrease in antioxidant enzyme activities, increase in O2- content, and alteration in ultrastructures of FG cells, a flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus) gill cell line. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 17, 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/15376510600860227
- Yang, W., Gao, X., Wu, Y., Wan, L., Lu, C., Huang, J., Chen, H., Yang, Y., Ding, H., Zhang, W., 2021. Chemical- and species-specific toxicity of nonylphenol and octylphenol to microalgae Chlorella pyrenoidosa and Scenedesmus obliquus. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 81, 103517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2020.103517
- Ying, G.G., Williams, B., Kookana, R., 2002. Environmental fate of alkylphenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates - A review. Environ. Int. 28, 215–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-4120(02)00017-X
- Zhong, M., Yin, P., Zhao, L., 2017. Toxic effect of nonylphenol on the marine macroalgae Gracilaria lemaneiformis (Gracilariales, Rhodophyta): antioxidant system and antitumor activity. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 10519–10527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8669-2